
 

 

MINUTES 
 

UTAH 
BOARD OF MASSAGE THERAPY 

Meeting 
 

March 20th, 2012 
Room 474 – Fourth Floor – 9:00 a.m. 

Heber M. Wells Building 
Salt Lake City, UT 84111 

 
CONVENED:  9:01 a.m. ADJOURNED:  12:42 p.m. 
 
Bureau Manager: Sally A. Stewart 
 
Board Secretary: Sally Canavan 
 
Board Members Present: Sharon Muir, Chairperson 

Hal Morrell 
Carolyn M. Redington 
Jennifer Hanna 
Craig M. Sauer 

 
Board Members Excused: None 
 
Guests: Roger Olbrot, Myotherapy College of Utah 

Jake Dinsdale, DLAG 
Julie Fuller, Zachary Timothy support 
Kirk Jorgensen, AMTA 
Ron Findlay, AMTA 
Susan DeLegge, AMTA 

 

DOPL Staff Present: Mark Steinagel, Division Director 
Neena Bowen, Compliance Specialist 
Debbie Harry, Compliance Specialist 
Alison Robinson, DOPL Investigator 

ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS:  
MINUTES: The minutes from the January 17th, 2012 meeting were 

reviewed.  Ms. Redington made a motion, seconded 
by Mr. Morrell, to approve the minutes with 
corrections.  The motion passed unanimously. 

PROBATION INTERVIEWS:  
Mary Beth Lindsey 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Muir did a telephone interview with Ms. Lindsey.  
She needs an employer report and documentation of 
doing the 12-step program to be entered online with 
Affinity.  She stated she had already entered the 12-
step program on line with Affinity.  The Compliance 



Page 2 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Mary Beth Lindsey (continued) Unit told her how to make the reports come to DOPL.  
She stated she has found a good12-step group that she 
likes goes to.  The Board reminded her they need the 
doctor’s orders for the two prescriptions.  The Board 
informed her she was being recorded, this was a 
public meeting.  She stated she really enjoys her work 
but has applied for new employment.  She noted she 
and the children have been diagnosed with post 
traumatic stress disorder.  She stated it is a great 
support to talk with the Board.  The Board reminded 
her everything is due by the 20th of the month.  The 
Board stated since she is non-compliant they could 
take action but choose not to at this time.  The Board 
requested to see her at the May 15th, 2012 meeting.  
She requested the 1st or 2nd appointment. 
Non-compliant 
 

Meghan Marie Elvin Ms. Elvin has been excused, she was injured while 
skiing.  The Compliance Unit stated she had been 
informed she will need to be here for the next meeting, 
on May 15th, 2012.  Compliant 
 

Carolyn Cluff Hanlin  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Sauer interviewed Ms. Hanlin.  She stated things 
are going fantastic.  The Board noted they had 
received her letter requesting early release.  She stated 
she was excited about going to Oregon temporarily, it 
will be an adventure.  She and the Board noted she is 
getting her life in order.  She stated she has always 
loved fishing; she had no one to go with before 
though.  She stated since she met Tom Shurtz, she has 
developed better habits.  She has decided what she 
does and does not want in her life.  Tom Shurtz has 
taught her a lot.    She stated even without Tom she 
would still be able to move forward.  She stated she 
plans to keep her license here in Utah.   She also stated 
she has learned to live life in a simpler manner and she 
has learned to say “no”.  The Board discussed she has 
not been coming to probation meetings very long.  She 
will be off probation on September 21st, 2012.  The 
Board noted concern about her living in an RV with 
another family; it can be really stressful.  Mr. Shurtz 
stated a lot of her problem is not alcohol; it is 
financial.  He stated they have been able to leave her 
tax return sitting in bank for the move to Oregon.  He 
stated he wants to make sure she is taken care of if 
something happens to him.  She stated she feels like 
she has learned a lot from Tom.  She stated she has a 



Page 3 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Carolyn Cluff Hanlin (continued) wonderful life and wonderful kids that support her.  
She stated she could possibly move up there and stay 
if she has to.  Mr. Sauer made a motion, seconded by 
Ms. Redington, to release her from probation as of 
March 20th, 2012.  The voting was unanimous.  The 
Board requested she report back in November just as a 
personal request, not a probation requirement.  The 
Board noted she had done wonderfully and to continue 
what she was doing until she receives the signed Order 
from DOPL or to just go to the DOPL website and 
“view licensee” to see when she is active. 
Compliant 

 

Aaron Thomas Keefe Mr. Morrell interviewed Mr. Keefe.  He stated he was 
smiling, always smiling.  He stated he was working on 
getting back into school and is using his 
unemployment right now to survive.  The Board 
wished him good luck with school.  He stated he had 
hurt his back a Kimberly-Clarke and had to ‘baby it’ 
for awhile.  The Board noted he had missed a call, he 
stated when he realized he had missed a call he was so 
angry with himself.  He was able to get a late call 
through so he ended up being okay.  The Board 
reminded him he has two 12-step meetings per month 
to get done and his monthly report is due May 20th, 
2012.  The Board noted gasoline is at a high price 
now.  The Board noted he gets to skip a meeting The 
Board requested to see him July 17th, 2012. 
Compliant 

 

Scott K Morrison Ms. Muir interviewed Mr. Morrison.  He stated he was 
doing really well.  The Board noted all reports were 
in; his next report was due May 20th, 2012.  He noted 
the possibility of getting another chaperone.  During 
holidays it was hard to schedule time with the 
chaperone.  He noted that his clientele was changing, 
most of clients were male.  He stated he did not need a 
chaperone to work on men.  He stated he does an 
average of 15-20 massages per week.  He also noted 
he is doing mostly medical types of massage.  He 
stated because of all the time he had spent in the 
hospital a few years ago and the additional studying he 
had done for himself and his injuries he has the ability 
to empathize with them.  He stated he attended UCMT 
for his Massage Therapy schooling.  He stated he was 
getting massages for himself, sometimes from the 
school clinic.  The Board requested to see him at the 
May 15th, 2012 meeting.  Compliant 



Page 4 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Alice Ray 
 

Mr. Sauer recused himself from this interview.  Ms. 
Hanna interviewed Ms. Ray.  She stated she is 
realizing she is amazing.  She stated she has done 
really well calling in for testing.  She stated she is 
working three or four days per week.  She stated it 
feels rewarding to help those who had helped her.  The 
Board asked ‘what is it that is working for you?’.  She 
stated she made a decision she can do this for herself, 
she just does one day at a time.  She stated she is 
healing herself, she realizes that her past drug use may 
have been an emotional crutch.  She has noticed she is 
developing confidence in her self.  She also stated 
being positive. This is not something she struggles 
with.  She knows she can do this, meet the 
requirements.  She stated she wants to keep her 
license; that is her motivator.  The Board noted her 
employer reports look like they love what she is 
doing.  The Board reminded her the next one is due on 
May 20th, 2012.  She requested to know how soon she 
can request early release.  She stated she was having 
issues with the computer; she was not well enough 
informed how to use a computer.  The compliance unit 
gave her verbal instructions to get through the 
programs.  The Board requested to see her at the May 
15th, 2012 meeting.   Compliant 
 

Zachary Scott Timothy Mr. Morrell interviewed Mr. Timothy.  He stated he 
had just gotten his driver’s license and is looking for 
an apartment in Orem area.  He stated he would be 
closer for the Board meetings.  The Board noted he 
has missed calling in for testing seven times in 
February and two times in March.  He stated he has 
now set an alarm on his phone to help him not miss 
any calls.  The Board noted the 12-step program needs 
to be entered online and then hit the green ‘edit’ 
button to have the report forwarded to the compliance 
unit.  If he has any problems he should call Ms. Harry 
and she can walk him thorough it.  The Board noted 
he chose to go on hold at the last meeting, things were 
not settled for him.  They noted two months would be 
added to his probation.  The Board stated when he 
called in it was a way of tracking him and if he misses 
a call it sends up a red flag.  The compliance unit 
noted because he is not working in the field he does 
not need to test.  They will excuse testing for today 
also.  The Board requested to see him at the May 15th, 
2012  meeting.  Non Compliant 



Page 5 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Charla Michele Tuttle 
 

Ms. Redington interviewed Ms. Tuttle.  The Board 
noted we were happy to see her in person.   She stated 
things are going well; she is working in the field.  The 
Board noted all her paperwork was in, including her 
employer report which was excellent and stated she 
was doing great and was an independent contractor.  
The employer report stated never any evidence of 
alcohol or drug use.  The Board noted her next report 
due May 20th, 2012.  She stated after the ski season 
she hopes to get more business.  She stated her mother 
is planning a big cruise for the summer.  Ms. Harry 
stated to let her know the dates the cruise was planned 
and they could do a monitoring interruption.  She 
requested information on early releases from 
probation.  The Board noted they want to get her 
started on a good straight path; she is only on 
probation for two years total.  The Board requested to 
wait and see how the cruise goes.  The Board stated if 
she stays compliant the next interview could be a 
phone interview.  The Board requested to interview 
with her at the May 15th, 2012 meeting depending on 
when the cruise is scheduled.  Compliant 
 

Kevin Rock) Mr. Morrell interviewed Mr. Rock.  He noted his 
probation duration was up.  He stated he thinks the job 
of the Board is to facilitate the probation for the 
individual.  The Board noted they were a little 
dismayed that he felt the Board was a little harassing.  
He stated there were members of the Board who 
seemed like they wanted to change his stipulations 
midway through his probation.  Mr. Rock noted his 
records were expunged he wants them to be expunged 
at DOPL also.  He stated if DOPL has police records 
they need to be destroyed.  The Board noted 
Administrative probation cannot be expunged; only 
criminal history can be expunged.  Mr.  Morrell made 
a motion, seconded by Mr. Sauer, to release him from 
probation, that his license go back to active and that it 
be dated today March 20th, 2012.  The voting was 
unanimous.  The Board cautioned him to continue 
with the terms of probation until he was able to verify 
online he license was active.  Compliant 

NEW STIPULATIONS:   
Melissa Camp 
 
 
 

Mr. Sauer interviewed Ms. Camp.  This is her initial 
interview with the Board.  It was a renewal and 
reinstatement.  She stated she has not had a drink since 
the night of the arrest.  The Board told her she needs 



Page 6 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Melissa Camp (continued) 
 

to sign-up with Affinity.  She stated it will be too 
much of a financial burden.  She stated she is court 
ordered to attend Odyssey House and they will do an 
evaluation and may order testing also.  The Board 
noted she had signed the MOU and by doing so agreed 
to the terms in it.  The Board told her to sign up with 
Affinity there was no charge and to start calling; there 
is no charge unless she is requested to test.  The 
calling is to establish a pattern of behavior.  There is 
not another way to monitor her.  The Board has the 
option at a later date to amend the MOU.  She 
requested to wait and see what Odyssey House 
requires before signing up and testing.  The Board 
stated she agreed in January to do what is in the MOU.  
The test will be random, generally about seven or nine 
times a year.  The Board told her this is not a 
punishment it is just to show the Board her direction.  
The compliance unit stated they would work with her, 
if she needs anything call Ms. Harry.  The Board 
requested copy of evaluation report from Odyssey 
House.  The Board noted if she is being truthful and 
does not have a drinking problem this will just be a 
minor inconvenience.  She can choose to make it a 
little bump in the road and go on or make it a big deal.  
Ms. Camp stated everything just seems so 
overwhelming.  The Board stated to call Ms. Harry 
she a very good resource for help.  The Board stated 
she will be fine once she get started and gets a 
schedule going.  The Board requested to see her at the 
May 15th 2012 meeting.  Compliant 
 

Jade Esplin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Redington interviewed Ms. Esplin.  This is her 
initial interview with the Board.  The Board noted her 
license was issued in October 2010 as a conditional 
license.  She stated she understands her MOU; the first 
two tests were very close.  She stated she is attending 
two support groups, one is 12-step recovery through 
Yoga and also a professional support group two times 
per month.  She had an Assessment and Referral from 
the court and turned it in to the Board.  She stated she 
may be leaving the state.  She planned to head up to 
Jackson Hole in April or May to do retail sales and she 
has been accepted to an art school.  She stated she 
may be moving to Philadelphia (Pennsylvania).  The 
Board suggested some options might be a voluntary 
surrender or she could get a license in Pennsylvania 
but the probation could follow her to Pennsylvania or 



Page 7 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Jade Esplin (continued) possibly Pennsylvania carrying on the probation 
requirements, or getting a supervisor to work under or 
possibly some telephone interviews if she decides to 
stay in Utah.  She stated she will think about the 
options and decide.  The Board stated she would need 
to let Ms. Harry know of her plans as soon as she 
decides.  Compliant 
 

Terrance Espinoza Mr. Espinoza will be interviewed by the Compliance 
Unit and Ms. Stewart later, tentatively scheduled for 
today.  This would have been his initial interview with 
the Board.  He stated his school schedule was at the 
same time the Board meets. 

DISCUSSION ITEMS:  
Apprenticeship Transfer Options 
(Continued Discussion from previous meeting) 

The Board discussed how if an apprentice supervisor 
becomes disabled in one way or another is there a way 
to transfer the apprenticeship to another supervisor so 
the apprentice can finish her education.  The Board 
determined there would have to be a meeting to 
determine if the replacement supervisor was qualified.  
The Division would only be involved in that as far as 
the total number of apprentices at one time and the 
curriculum.  The Division suggested the Board may 
want to look at modifying the Rule so that subject 
could be addressed in the Standards for Supervisors 
and Apprentices Sections.  The Board determined at 
this time they just wanted to show the subject had 
been discussed and was on record that it had been 
discussed.  If the matter comes before the Board at a 
later time they would be able to approve a replacement 
supervisor as long as the supervisor meets current 
qualifications for a supervisor.  The Board noted the 
Apprentice Transfer Options discussion is now closed. 
 

Laws and Rules 
 

There was a change to the Statute in the last 
Legislative session.  The definition of Massage 
Therapy was altered to reinsert “therapeutic” although 
in a different place.  The Legislators corrected “and” 
replacing it with “or”, plus added in “providing, 
offering or advertising a paid service using the term 
massage or a derivative of the word massage 
regardless of whether or not the service includes 
physical contact”; meaning people cannot call 
themselves a massage therapist unless the individual 
has acquired a massage therapy license.  These 
changes may require some type of clarification in rule. 
 



Page 8 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

Local Ordinances Update - Ron Findlay 
 

Ron Findlay was thanked on behalf of the Board and 
DOPL, along with all the massage therapists he 
worked with, for all the work that has been done.  He 
noted for the Board some of the cities have been 
reviewing and getting ready to amend their existing 
local ordinances.  The meetings were open to the 
public. Mr. Findlay and other members of the Utah 
AMTA sent  emails to the West Valley City Council 
saying they were concerned about some of the 
proposed changes  Some of the specific changes 
would be to change the words ‘massage therapist’ to 
‘masseur’.  Masseurs are defined as only males, they 
were thinking about including Reiki in their definition 
of massage, etc.  The Board discussed other changes. 
Mr. Findlay stated the WV City Council did invite 
him to come and speak with their City Attorney.  The 
Board discussed the need to regulate the business and 
not the clients.  The Board noted HB114 gave the 
cities a lot of power to regulate within their city limits.  
Mr. Findlay was hoping to be able to present a 
possible business code to the League of Towns and 
Cities  conference to be held in St. George on April 
11th -13th, 2012.  Mr. Findlay will email the Board 
when he hears more about the meeting.  
 

BreaAnn Odom - Application BreaAnn Odom’s Supervisor has been licensed in 
North Dakota since 1996.  In Utah she has only been 
licensed one and a half years.  The law and rule do not 
specify that an individual must be licensed for 6,000 
hours of experience in the State of Utah.  The Board 
discussed if it was right to hold it against a supervisor 
for not being licensed in Utah.  It was pointed out here 
that the Division has no objection.  Technically, the 
supervisor must be approved and since the hours are 
not in Utah, Ms. Stewart is putting it to the Board for a 
recommendation.  The Board determined they had no 
objection to the supervisor’s work experience being 
out-of-state as long as she can prove it.  The Board 
recommended the supervisor is fine at this time.  The 
Division thinks it will happen more often as people are 
becoming more mobile.  The Board determined they 
did not want to open the rule right now. 
 
Roger Olbrot, President of the Utah Chapter of the 
American Massage Therapy Association asked the 
Board and the Division that because of the number of 
apprenticeship curriculums coming in for review and 



Page 9 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

not being approved because of gross defaults; if he 
could put together some training for everyone.  This 
would allow for individuals who are interested in 
becoming apprentice supervisors to come to him and 
he could do training for them.  He stated he would be 
willing to do that at no cost.  It would be solely 
voluntary.  He requested DOPL give his name, 
telephone number and email to people who would be 
interested in doing a curriculum approval. 
 

Casey Renegar – Denied Renewal Appeal The Division denied renewal for Mr. Renegar.  The 
Division requested additional information from Mr. 
Renegar.  He was offered a Memorandum of 
Understanding and Order (MOU) as a result of an 
investigation that had occurred.  He did not respond to 
the offer subsequently renewal was denied.  He is 
allowed to appeal before the Board.  Mr. Renegar 
stated he did not respond because he was trying to get 
all this court stuff taken care of and when he received 
the MOU with all of its legalese it was intimidating.  
He stated he has been feeling sick and has been 
diagnosed with a medical disorder.  He stated he has 
not had insurance.  He now has a special card to save 
money on his prescriptions so he can afford the 
medication he is now taking.  He did not know he was 
going to have a charge and is still reeling from the 
court proceedings.  He was having a medical episode 
when the charge was incurred.  He stated he has never 
been through anything like this before.  He stated he 
has tried to be in good standing with his license since 
it was issued in May 2002.  He plans to move to the 
San Francisco area of California (CA) and practice 
massage there.  He would like to be in good standing 
in Utah on the off-chance that he moves back to Utah.  
He would like to be able to get licensed in Utah.  The 
Board discussed licensure requirements in CA.  The 
Board noted the renewal of his license has been 
denied.  He plans to leave Utah.  The Board does not 
feel there is much they can do for him at this point. 
The Board recommended he go to CA and see what 
happens there.  The Board noted his MOU agreement 
for a probationary license, if he had accepted it would 
have been for five years.  If he comes back to Utah he 
may re-apply for licensure or renewal at that time.  
Depending on what happens in CA, he will begin 
setting a pattern of behavior. 

 



Page 10 of 10 
Minutes 
Board of Massage Therapy 
March 20th, 2012 

 

 

NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING: Tuesday, May 15th, 2012 
 
ADJOURN:  12:42 p.m. 
Note: These minutes are not intended to be a verbatim transcript but are intended to record the significant features of the 
business conducted in this meeting.   Discussed items are not necessarily shown in the chronological order they occurred.  
 
May 15th, 2012____________________ 
Date Approved 

(ss) Sharon Muir, Chairperson__________________ 
Board of Massage Therapy 

 
May 15th, 2012____________________ 
Date Approved 

(ss) Sally A. Stewart, Bureau Manager____________ 
Division of Occupational & Professional Licensing 

 


